# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

THE ABSTRACT CORPORATION and CHELSEA TITLE AND GUARANTY COMPANY,

Petitioners,

ν.

CASE NO. 63,971

FERNANDEZ COMPANY,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

W.C. Hutchison, Jr. HUTCHISON & MAMELE 230 North Park Avenue Post Office Drawer H Sanford, Florida 32771 (305) 322-4051 Attorneys for Petitioners

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

For the purposes of this brief, "A" will relate to the appendix and "R" to the record.

This cause was initiated in the trial court by the filing of a third party complaint by Respondent, Fernandez Company, against Petitioners, The Abstract Corporation and Chelsea Title and Guaranty Company (R 1-9) alleging the negligent omission of seven deeds from abstracts prepared by Petitioners and upon which the non-privity Respondent relied to its injury. Petitioners filed a motion to dismiss relating to privity and reliance (R 16-17). The complaint was amended instanter relating to reliance and upon the answer and affirmative defenses of Petitioners (R 20-23) as amended (R 42-45) the cause was tried without jury. Petitioners admitted the omission of the seven deeds but denied that such omission was in fact negligent. The trial court found that such omission was not negligent and entered judgment in favor of Petitioners (R 96-97) (A-1).

From such judgment Respondent filed its notice of appeal (R 122). The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court in Fernandez Company v. The Abstract Corporation and Chelsea Title and Guaranty Company, its case number 82-1021, reported as Fernandez Co. v. Birtley, 435 So.2d 280 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) (A-3). The reversal by the Fifth District Court of Appeal directed itself to the trial court's finding of an absence of negligence and in

effect held that the omission was negligent. Since the appeal was perfected by Respondent as compared to Petitioners, the question of privity between the abstractor and the user was not raised on appeal. However, the Fifth District Court, apparently recognizing more skirmishing on the trial court level, addressed itself to the question of privity and followed the holding in Kovaleski v.

Tallahassee Title Co., 363 So.2d 1156 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), (A-10), in pointing out the conflicting position with First American Title

Ins. Co. v. First Title Service Co., 423 So.2d 600 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), (A-8), and the additional conflict with Sickler v. Indian River

Abstract & Guaranty Co., 195 So. 195 (Fla. 1940), (A-17). From this conflict, this Court accepted discretionary jurisdiction in certiorari and this brief results.

#### ARGUMENT

The only expression of this Court relating to the liability of abstractors in the performance of their abstract function which existed prior to the acceptance of the discretionary jurisdiction of certiorari in First American Title Ins. Co. v. First Title Service Co., 423 So.2d 600 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), was Sickler v. Indian River Abstract & Guaranty Co., 195 So. 195 (Fla. 1940). Sickler established the liability of abstractors for negligent performance in producing the abstract and based such liability upon contract as compared to tort thus making privity a necessary condition precedent to abstractors' liability for negligence. This remained the law until the First District decided Kovaleski v. Tallahassee Title Co., 363 So.2d 1156 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), which adopted the foreseeability theory and authorized actions against abstractors based upon tort as compared to privity, the court reasoning that this Court's decision in A.R. Moyer, Inc. v. Graham, 285 So.2d 397 (Fla. 1973), an architectural liability case, overruled Sickler. For some strange reason, Kovaleski was not brought to this Court based upon its conflict with Sickler. The Third District created a conflict by its decision in First American Title Ins. Co., supra, holding that privity was still a requirement for abstractors' liability and that Moyer did not overrule Sickler.

Obviously, we agree with the Third District. All of the cases relied on by this Court in <u>Moyer</u> related to architectural liability and dealt with situations where an element of direct

supervision or control by the architect was involved or where the architect knew that the plans would be utilized by a specific contractor or where the architect knew that the plans would be resold or utilized by others. In most cases, the plans of an architect are used one time in the construction of the structure contemplated by such plans. Any defect which would create liability to the architect manifests itself in the structure and when discovered is corrected. Thus, there is only a one-time liability to the architect whereas once an abstract is released by the abstractor it is not recoverable. It remains in the stream of commerce relating to the title to a given parcel of property without any foreseeability as to the numbers of hands through which it will pass and the future liability which could be This is particularly true in the issuance of title insurance policies based upon abstracts prepared by those with whom the title insuror is not in privity. All manner of mischief relating to titles, title examinations and the transfer of real property will result if the contractual requirement or privity requirement is eliminated as a basis for abstractor liability.

The First District in Chelsea Title & Guar. Co. v. Louis

Briggs Const., Inc., 315 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), although

stating that it did not decide that Moyer overruled Sickler

nevertheless pointed out what should be considered material

differences between the theory of abstractor liability and the

theory of architectural liability, such as the abstractor warranting

his product forever, generation after generation, and the impact of title insuring as it relates to abstracts.

Moyer should be read in the light of the specific questions certified by the United States Court of Appeal and with the realization of the differences in architectural performance as compared to abstractor performance as was hereinbefore pointed out and as was demonstrated in the cases upon which Moyer was decided. To eliminate the privity requirement relating to an abstractor will undoubtedly have a chilling effect upon abstract preparation and dissemination.

Respectfully submitted,

W.C. Hutchison, Jr. HUTCHISON & MAMELE 230 North Park Avenue Post Office Drawer H

Sanford, Florida 32771

(305) 322-4051

Attorneys for Petitioners