IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

THE ABSTRACT CORLPORATION and CHELSEA TITLE AND GUARANTY COMPANY,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. 63,971

٧.

FERNANDEZ COMPANY,

Respondent.

FEB 20 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Richard R. Cook, Esquire KANE & COOK, P.A. 309 Oakridge Blvd., Suite C Daytona Beach, FL 32018 904/253-0001

WILLIAM A. SPENCE, ESQUIRE 730 S. Atlantic Ave., Suite 103 Ormond Beach, Florida 32074 904/677-8000

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Respondent agrees with the statement of the case and of the facts in the Petitioner's brief with the following clarifications.

The Petitioners did not cross appeal the issue of the Trial Court's denial of their Motion to Dismiss based on lack of privity between them and the Respondent. This issue is therefore before this Court only because the Fifth District Court injected the privity issue into its decision. On that basis alone the Petitioners should receive no relief.

ISSUE

WHETHER A CAUSE OF ACTION CAN BE STATED UNDER FLORIDA LAW AGAINST AN ABSTRACTOR FOR THE NEGLIGENT PREPARATION OF AN ABSTRACT WHEN THE PLAINTIFF IS NOT IN PRIVITY WITH THE ABSTRACTOR?

ARGUMENT

The Petitioners' brief concludes with a statement that to eliminate privity as a prerequisite to suit against an abstractor will have a "...chilling effect upon abstract preparation...".

Unless insulation from liability afforded abstractors is eliminated the preparation of abstracts will stop altogether.

First of all every attorney or title insuror will commit an act of negligence if they rely upon an abstract that has not been certified from the earliest public records to the present at their request for the purchaser they are protecting. Every abstract now in circulation is worthless. For each new transaction a complete recertification for the new purchaser will be necessary. The second effect could well be that title insurance issued only by companies with title plants would replace abstracts.

In view of the fact that this Court has waived oral argument the Respondent, Fernandez, can only conclude this Court is going to decide this case along with <u>First American Title Insurance Company</u>, <u>Inc., v. First Title Service Company of the Florida Keys, Inc.,</u> Case No. 63,136, and rely on the arguments made in that case. Fernandez will therefor not undertake to merely repeat the arguments of the Petitioner in Case No. 63,136, but prefers instead to concentrate on the policy considerations it feels should control the Court's decision in this case.

Two of the great virtues of the common law are continuity and flexibility. If this Court is to allow foreseeably damaged plaintiffs to sue negligent abstractors regardless of privity, we should

first assess the effect such a decision would have on the continuity of our present law. Presently a person who is physically injured or suffers merely pecuniary damage need not prove he is in privity with the person whose negligence caused his injury in the area of products liability. A.R. Moyer v. Graham, 285 So2d 397 (Fla. 1973), West v. Caterpillar Tractor Co., Inc., 336 So2d 80 (Fla. 1976), and Simmons v. Owens, 363 So2d 142 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

The $\underline{\text{Moyer}}$ case is not even a real products liability case since it was the architect's plans and specifications that were negligently produced.

A plaintiff suffering physical injury because a physician misdiagnoses his patient and that patient infects the plaintiff need not prove privity with the physician. Gill v. Hartford Accident and Indemnity, 337 So2d 42 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976).

Therefore, in three of the four possible combinations i.e. physicial and pecuniary injury from a product and physical injury from negligently supplying information no privity is necessary. The fourth possible combination is the case at bar i.e. pecuniary loss resulting from supplying information. What then makes this situation so different from the others so as to insulate the negligent party from liability? The Respondent submits there is no logical reason not to continue the elimination of the privity requirement.

This is especially true in the case of abstractor liability.

The abstractor completely supervises the compilation of the

information he disseminates albeit in the form of a product. In almost every instance the only potential persons that can be harmed by the abstractor's negligence are persons not in privity with him. Therefore, the decision of the First District Court in Kovaleski v. Tallahassee Title Co., 363 So2d 1156 (Fla 1st DCA 1978), is a logical and foreseeable continuation of the evolution of Florida tort law.

The flexibility of the common law allows this Court to enunciate a new theory of law to take into consideration the modern world where the acquisition, accumulation and dissemination of information pervades both our business world and our private lives. Instead of trying to use warranty theories, corruption of the third party beneficiary principles or a products liability rationales; this Court can make a clear statement of Florida law. The Respondent urges the Court to adopt the Restatement of Torts 2d §552, as the law in Florida.

To ignore this principle is to deny that the common law can adapt to a changing world. To adopt a theory of recovery other than one grounded in tort is to add confusion and build inadequacy into the solution to the present fact situation.

The most comprehensive treatment of the exact issue before this Court now is contained in <u>Williams v. Polgar</u>, 391 Mich. 6, 215 N.W.2d 149 (1974), the case cited <u>Kovaleski</u>, supra. Michigan had already dispensed with the necessity of privity when the <u>Williams</u> case arose. Apparently Michigan had been struggling to fit into a theoretical framework the idea that a person who

negligently purveys information should be liable to all who are damaged by this negligence. The Court in <u>Williams</u> faced up to the issue once and for all stating that abstractors, laywers, doctors, architects, etc., would be held responsible for the foreseeable consequences of their negligent representations.

Other than an action for negligent misrepresentation the alternatives considered by the Court in <u>Williams</u>, supra, include only one other possible theoretical avenue for this Court to chose, that of creating liability upon the theory of third party beneficiary contracts. This would be only a corruption of contract law and in fact would provide no remedy in most situations.

Usually there is not written contract when only information is purveyed. Rarely would the parties clearly intend and the purpose of the contract be to benefit a third person as is not required by contract law. First National Bank v. Perkins, 81 Fla 431 (1921). The question in situations as is presently before the Court is not who was intended to derive benefit but who was damaged.

The Petitioners argue that unlimited liability will result from the elimination of privity requirement. This simply is not true. It is hard to imagine that liability will extend beyond the last person in the chain of title who relied upon the abstract. This would certainly seem to be much less exposure than an architect has if a building collapses.

In summing up this argument the Respondent urges the Court to follow in its entirety the opinion of the Michigan Supreme Court in Williams v. Polgar, supra. This opinion is comprehensive and this brief could add nothing to it. The Respondent would also urge the Court to consider the arguments advanced by Urich & Milne, Abstracter's Liability and Beyond, The Florida Bar Journal, Vol. 53, No. 4, Pg. 210 (April 1979). As to the issue of just what constitutes negligence by an abstractor the Respondent's brief filed in the Fifth Dstrict Court fully covers this point.

CONCLUSION

The Respondent urges the Court to adopt Restatement of
Torts 2nd § 552 as the law of this state. In addition, the
Respondent urges the Court to adopt the opinion of the Michigan
Supreme Court in Williams v. Polgar, supra, as the law in
Florida as it applies specifically to abstractor's liability.
The Court should therefore affirm the decision of the Fifth
District of Appeal in this case.